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REPORT FROM THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Management Board of Inter IKEA Holding B.V. presents its Annual Report for the 12-month 
period ended 31 August 2025.

General

Inter IKEA Group
Inter IKEA Holding B.V. (‘the Company’) is the ultimate parent company of the Inter IKEA Group 
(‘the Group’). The Company is fully owned and controlled by Inter IKEA Foundation.

The Group consists of three core businesses: Retail Concept, Range and Supply. Core businesses 
work together with franchisees and suppliers to co-create the IKEA offer and franchise business. 
The aim is to provide franchisees with the best possible conditions for implementing and 
operating the IKEA Concept, and to create a strong platform for growth.

In FY25, the Group acquired full ownership of two companies in Latvia, engaged in the 
acquisition, cultivation and maintenance of forest assets across Latvia. The operations in these 
two entities comprise approximately 8,000 hectares of land parcels, primarily forest land. With 
this acquisition, the Group aims to govern a part of its wood supply in the Baltics as well as 
contribute to the development of new methods for responsible forest management within the 
IKEA value chain.

In FY25, the Group acquired full ownership of the retail operations and real estate in Estonia, 
Lithuania and Latvia ('IKEA Baltics') from Hof Group, an IKEA franchisee. By leveraging the IKEA 
Baltics’ expertise in the local markets, the Group aims to gain new insights and strengthen its 
strategic objectives, for the benefit of all franchisees. IKEA Baltics continues to operate under 
the franchise system and therefore remains to have a franchise relationship with Inter IKEA 
Systems B.V.

As at 31 August 2025, 13 groups of franchisees operate more than 800 IKEA customer meeting 
points, including large stores, small stores and pick-up points, plus several test formats. 
Franchisees implement the IKEA Concept by marketing and selling the IKEA product range. 
With the exception of IKEA Baltics and the IKEA Delft store in the Netherlands, owned by Inter 
IKEA Systems B.V., all franchisees are independent from and unrelated to the Group. Franchisees 
operate IKEA customer meeting points under franchise agreements with Inter IKEA Systems B.V. 
Each franchisee has the responsibility to run, manage and develop its local business.

Retail Concept
Retail Concept is part of Inter IKEA Systems B.V., based in The Netherlands. Inter IKEA Systems 
B.V. is the worldwide IKEA franchisor and owner of the IKEA Concept (which includes the IKEA 
Brand and the IKEA retail system). Retail Concept is responsible for continuously developing the 
IKEA Concept and ensuring its successful implementation in existing and new markets.

In addition to Retail Concept, Inter IKEA Systems B.V. harbours the strategic franchisor functions 
to remain forward-looking in areas such as brand positioning, digital development, talent 
development, and sustainability.
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Other subsidiaries of Inter IKEA Systems B.V. include IKEA Marketing & Communication AB, 
developing and creating IKEA communication content.

Range
Range includes IKEA of Sweden AB and related businesses. IKEA of Sweden AB works under 
assignment from Inter IKEA Systems B.V. and is mainly responsible for developing and designing 
the overall IKEA product range, including home furnishings, food and packaging solutions, 
according to the IKEA Concept framework.

Supply
Supply includes IKEA Supply AG, IKEA Industry AB, IKEA Components AB and related businesses. 
Inter IKEA Systems B.V. assigns IKEA Supply AG to source, supply, sell and distribute IKEA 
products to IKEA franchisees. The majority of IKEA products (approximately 90%) is sourced 
from external suppliers across the globe. The operational relationships with these suppliers 
are handled through purchasing offices, located close to where the suppliers are. IKEA Supply 
AG manages and operates the IKEA supply chain together with its wholesale subsidiaries 
and external business partners, such as transport service providers, warehouse providers and 
customs brokers. Wholesale subsidiaries buy IKEA products from internal and external suppliers 
and sell them to IKEA franchisees.

IKEA Industry is a strategic IKEA manufacturer that produces IKEA home furnishing products 
and develops unique IKEA capabilities and capacities in relevant parts of the value chain (e.g. 
material and manufacturing). IKEA Industry produces approximately 10% of the total IKEA range. 
Its operations are conducted through various production units, with a main focus on wood-
based furniture.

IKEA Components develops, sources, packs and supplies components such as screws and 
wooden dowels that are used to assemble IKEA furniture.

Governance structure
The Group’s governance is also organised through the three core businesses with the 
risk management structures, internal control and compliance tailored to their specific 
business needs and characteristics. The Group’s governance structure is based on two main 
considerations: to secure the growth and development opportunities of the IKEA Brand and 
the IKEA Concept, and to guarantee the Group’s independence and ability to maintain a long-
term perspective.

The Company has two main governing bodies: the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board. The composition of the Management Board did not change during the year, but will 
change on 1 January 2026 when the new CEO starts. The composition of the Supervisory Board 
was changed during the year, adding one member on 1 August 2025. As per 31 August 2025, the 
Supervisory Board comprises seven members.

The Management Board represents Inter IKEA Group and is responsible for its general business 
conduct. It delegates responsibility to the Finance Committee to provide frameworks to the core 
businesses, and responsibility to the Ethics Committee to supervise the Group's response to 
critical ethical dilemmas and the formal handling of (potential) critical ethical breaches. The Inter 
IKEA Group management team consists of the Management Board and key senior executives, 
who together discuss and address important topics and actions affecting the Group as a whole.
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The Supervisory Board exercises supervision over the Management Board, monitors the Group's 
general affairs, and provides the Management Board with advice. The Supervisory Board 
delegates responsibility to the Remuneration Committee to supervise proposed compensation 
frameworks, and responsibility to the Audit Committee to evaluate and approve the internal 
control systems and financial reporting.

Financial information

The financial statements included in this Annual Report cover the 12-month period from 
1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 (‘FY25’). Comparative figures reflect the 12-month period 
from 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2024 (‘FY24’).

Profit and loss account
Total operating income in FY25 amounts to EUR 26.3 billion (-0.9% compared to FY24), mainly 
generated through charged franchise fees and sales of goods to IKEA franchisees. Operating 
income development is directly linked to the retail sales of all IKEA franchisees worldwide since 
these sales drive the Group’s wholesale activities and form the basis for the franchise fees. In 
FY24, wholesale prices to the IKEA retailers were substantially lowered to support affordability. 
These price reductions continued to have an effect in FY25, keeping revenues fairly unchanged 
while sales volumes have grown compared to previous year.

Most of our operating expenses comprise of cost of raw materials and consumables relating to 
the manufacturing and procurement of finished goods. Cost of raw materials and consumables 
also include transport, storage and handling cost directly attributed to products. After multiple 
years of continuous rise in these costs, a rapid downward trend occurred during FY24 continuing 
into the start of FY25. The uncertainties however around US trade caused turmoil and volatility 
on the commodity markets as from the second half of FY25, with price increases subsequent 
to the announcement of tariffs. For the whole of FY25, price levels even out, resulting in lower 
costs per product. Due to higher sales volumes, the total cost of raw materials and consumables 
increased with 1.3% compared to FY24.

The remaining operating expenses include salary cost, utilities, fixed asset depreciation and 
amortisation, rent and other costs related to day-to-day operations. Not considering one-time 
costs, operating expenses have increased significantly during FY24 due to investments in 
retail operations, forestry, sustainability and digital capabilities. Furthermore, high inflation in 
certain countries adds to our operating expenses. The Group's co-worker base (measured in 
average FTE) increased from 23,892 in FY24 to 25,971 in FY25 primarily due to the acquisition of 
IKEA Baltics.

Financial income comprises income from hedging activities, interest on cash deposits, 
and favourable currency translation effects. Financial expenses comprise interest expenses 
and unfavourable currency translation effects. Financial income has decreased significantly 
compared to FY24 due to lower interest income gained on outstanding cash balances. This 
results from a series of interest rate cuts introduced by the European Central Bank to support 
the economy.

The applicable weighted average tax rate for FY25 is 21.3%, following the nominal tax rates 
in the Netherlands, Sweden and Switzerland where the majority of the Group’s businesses are 
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located. The effective tax rate increased by 3.8% compared to the previous year, mainly due to 
lower profitability in Switzerland resulting from high supply chain costs connected to US tariffs.

In December 2017, the European Commission opened a formal investigation, with their Opening 
Decision published on 6 April 2018 which was complemented by their Decision published on 
10 July 2020, to examine whether decisions by the tax authorities in The Netherlands with regard 
to the corporate income tax paid by one of our subsidiaries, Inter IKEA Systems B.V., comply with 
European Union rules on state aid. The Company co-operates and responds to questions which 
the European Commission has in relation to this investigation. 

At this moment, although management considers the risk of a cash out flow unlikely, it is 
not possible to assess a financial impact, if any, of the outcome of this EC investigation. 
The aforementioned outcome is not expected to have a material adverse impact on the 
financial position of the Company. The Company is actively monitoring and addressing these 
developments and believes that its corporate income tax position is appropriately reflected in 
the financial statements.

Net profit for the year amounts to EUR 1.5 billion (FY24: EUR 2.2 billion). The decrease versus 
previous year is primarily driven by the lower operating income and lower interest income.

Balance sheet
The Group’s balance sheet positions as per 31 August 2025 have not changed significantly when 
compared to 31 August 2024.

Fixed assets primarily comprise the IKEA Proprietary Rights (“IP Rights”), relating to the IKEA 
trademark and other intellectual property rights, with a book value of EUR 8.5 billion.

The Group owns several buildings, offices, distribution centres and IKEA customer meeting 
points across the world. Additionally, the Group owns multiple IKEA furniture production units, 
mostly located in Europe, as well as two factories that produce furniture components (screws, 
plugs, etc.). In FY25, multiple investments were made in extending or improving existing 
production units. Additionally, software solutions were acquired to consolidate and enhance 
digital capabilities within the Group. The acquisitions of IKEA Baltics and land assets result in 
additions to goodwill and tangible fixed assets.

Inventories mostly consist of IKEA products located in, or underway to distribution centres. 
Inventory at the end of FY24 was particularly low as transport constraints posed a challenge in 
replenishing inventory to the desired level. During FY25, the Group increased its inventory levels, 
securing a better availability of products for our customers. Receivables mainly relate to IKEA 
retailers for franchise fees and IKEA products sold and invoiced.

Group equity decreased from EUR 19.2 billion to EUR 18.8 billion. Main movements during the 
year were the net profit addition of EUR 1.5 billion and a EUR 1.8 billion dividend distribution to 
our shareholder. The Group’s equity ratio remains unchanged at 85% for both FY24 and FY25.

Provisions are recognized for pensions, deferred taxes, legal disputes and product related 
claims. Non-current liabilities consist of long-term loans to third parties. Current liabilities 
consist of short-term loans, trade payables and tax payables.
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Cash flows
The build-up of inventory has had an adverse effect on the cash flow from business operations 
during FY25. The total cash generated by operating activities was mainly used for the acquisition 
of IKEA Baltics, the acquisition of land assets, and regular investments for the purpose of life 
cycle management. In addition, dividends were paid to our shareholder.

The Group monitors its cash position by using a cash flow forecast model to ensure the cash 
position is always sufficient to meet the financial obligations towards co-workers, creditors, tax 
authorities and other third parties. Credit limits are in place for all Inter IKEA Group companies 
to manage the cash position and prevent cash overdrafts.

Risk management

Approach
The Group is committed to protect the IKEA Concept and Brand, co-workers, visitors, customers, 
business partners and assets. Steering documents, frameworks, tools and working methods are 
in place, embedding risk management and compliance activities into day-to-day operations:

• The IKEA forever parts (vision, business idea, culture & values), direction and strategies 
are the foundation. The updated Inter IKEA Group Code of Conduct and our Policy 
House define Group-wide business requirements.

• Business requirements are further specified in more detailed steering documents and 
implemented in day-to-day operations as suitable in local regulatory contexts.

• Requirements imposed on IKEA franchisees and business partners are reflected in 
corresponding agreements, IConduct and IWAY.

• A common risk management methodology is used to identify and assess key risks, 
resulting in risk registers and action plans.

• Key internal control and compliance requirements are assessed across three lines 
of defence, using self-assessments, compliance reviews and internal audits. These 
requirements are also directed at preventing and detecting fraud.

• The Raise a Concern Line, as well as incident and crisis management processes are 
designed to detect and manage issues as they occur, and evaluations are performed to 
enable learning and continuous improvement.

The Ethics Committee supervises and advises on the response to critical ethical dilemmas and 
handling of (potential) critical breaches of the IKEA business requirements. Through a bi-annual 
self-evaluation, the committee reflects on its performance. Legal entity Boards, the Inter IKEA 
Group management team and the Audit Committee keep oversight and periodically discuss 
consolidated risk registers and compliance status.

Key risks
The Group’s overall risk appetite is low. In areas such as product quality & safety, business 
ethics, health and safety & security, the risk appetite is very low. Key risks are categorised in 
the categories described below. Detailed risk registers are in place to describe, prioritise and 
monitor the risks on core business and group levels. The risks are mitigated by a variety of 
measures as described under “Approach” above.

Inter IKEA Holding B.V. Annual Report FY25 Page 7 of 63



Geopolitics, supply chain disruptions & resource scarcity
Geopolitical tension and competition continue to drive short-term disruption and challenge 
long-term planning. Tariffs have been widely implemented across the world, impacting different 
markets to different degrees. Instability will clearly influence the IKEA value chain over the 
coming years. The mapping of critical scenarios form a basis to navigate these geopolitical 
challenges and the Group has established a geopolitical internal network. In addition, there are 
several ongoing resilience building initiatives and/or strategic movements including:

• Design for responsiveness – Supply chain principles guiding the organisation in 
decision making.

• Scenario planning and stress testing our capabilities to continuously improve.
• Targeted analysis and coordination of activities for key topics.

Sustainability
Omnibus proposals provide some relief in ‘corporate’ EU regulations. At the same time, the risk 
of direct business impacts of climate change and availability/competition for natural resource 
(e.g. physical disruption, material agenda) is increasing. As we continue efforts to meet short 
term compliance requirements we also anticipate longer term threats around climate change 
impacts and resource scarcity. No material climate risks have been identified with an impact on 
the financial statements as per 31 August 2025.

Digital, information security & data privacy
Digital ways of working continue to expand across our business. Modern technologies play an 
even greater role in how we develop products and engage with customers and suppliers. The 
use of data and emerging technologies, including AI, is also growing. At the same time, cyber 
threats are becoming more frequent and complex, as attack methods are evolving. Protecting 
our business requires continuous attention across technical, legal, and organizational areas. We 
continue to strengthen our digital foundations including building secure and reliable solutions, 
safeguarding data, and making the most of new digital opportunities, so that the IKEA value 
chain remains secure, resilient, and trusted.

Finance: Reporting & compliance risks
The Group faces financial risks, such as foreign currency exchange, commodity price increases, 
credit and tax risks. The Group is exposed to currency risk on franchise fees and goods flows 
which is actively managed through derivatives contracts. This activity is fully centralised and 
managed by the Treasury function through an internal control framework. For derivatives traded 
with banking partners, there is a collateral management process where the net asset or liability 
value is exchanged in the form of cash collateral with each counterparty.

Credit risk arises from the Group’s loans and receivables, as well as cash and cash equivalents. 
Credit risk is considered limited as receivables for the majority relate to the 13 groups of 
franchisees with which long-standing relationships exist. Cash invested in Money Market Funds 
is spread across AAA credit rated investment funds. Liquidity risk is managed through detailed 
liquidity planning to ensure the Group’s cash position is sufficient to meet financial obligations 
towards creditors.

Increased attention on taxation of multinational companies is addressed through our Group-
wide tax control framework, simplifying the Group structure and keeping tax, including transfer 
pricing and transparency high on the Group’s agenda.
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Sustainability

IKEA Sustainability Strategy
The IKEA Sustainability Strategy is issued by Inter IKEA Group and sets a common direction 
for the IKEA value chain and franchise system. In FY25, we revised our sustainability 
strategy, shifting from ambitions and commitments to the 'objectives and key results' ('OKR') 
methodology - a framework that pairs clear objectives with measurable outcomes to make 
our actions more concrete, track progress, and align efforts across the organisation. The OKRs 
outlined within this strategy are set for 2030 and organised into three focus areas.

Healthy & sustainable living - our objective is to inspire and enable people to move towards 
healthy and sustainable lifestyles by making this a desirable choice that is affordable, attractive 
and accessible for as many people as possible through IKEA products, services, food, marketing 
and communications.

Climate, nature & circularity - our objective related to climate is to limit the impact of the IKEA 
value chain on global warming by reducing emissions in line with a 1.5°C pathway, increasing 
carbon removals and storage, and contributing to broader societal climate change mitigation 
and adaptation efforts. Our objective related to nature is to reduce negative pressures 
and impacts on nature across the IKEA value chain, while contributing to the protection, 
improvement and enhancement of natural ecosystems in our sphere of influence. Our objective 
related to circularity is to transition towards a circular business by prolonging the lifespan of 
IKEA products and materials through applying circular design principles and offering products 
and services that make it possible to reuse, repair, refurbish and recycle.

Fair & equal - our objective to contribute to a fair and equal society by respecting and promoting 
human rights, improving decent and meaningful work, and striving towards diversity and 
inclusion across the IKEA value chain.

Through the move to OKRs, the strategy introduces more structured internal goal-setting and 
progress tracking complementary to, but distinct from, regulatory reporting requirements. The 
strategy will be reviewed annually, and we will share our progress towards our objectives.

Co-workers
With the base of IKEA values and leadership, together with compensation and benefits, co-
workers are provided with a safe working environment. The Inter IKEA Group Code of Conduct 
applies to all co-workers within the Group and can be found on our website. The Code of 
Conduct was updated during FY25 and widely communicated within the Group, accompanied 
by an e-learning. Every co-worker must complete the e-learning every other year and new 
co-workers must complete the e-learning within three months of employment, followed by every 
other year. In addition, training material has been developed for the purpose of face-to-face 
trainings. Managers are expected to lead (at least) one session per year with their teams on the 
topic of Code of Conduct, ethical workplace and expected behaviours.

The Group has presence in many different countries. Equality, inclusion and diversity increase 
our understanding of each other which is why the Group embraces diversity and actively recruits 
co-workers of all ages, backgrounds, mind-sets and perspectives. The Group promotes an 
environment of openness where everyone is important, and feels comfortable to experiment 
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and try new ways. All aspects of diversity, equality and inclusion are actively pursued across the 
whole Group.

At Inter IKEA Group, we have a large representation of women in our co-worker and manager 
base, as we want to be an equal, diverse, and inclusive business. Specifically, in response to the 
Dutch legislation in respect of gender diversity in corporate boards, Inter IKEA Holding B.V. and 
Inter IKEA Systems B.V. have set a target of at least 40% of the least represented gender (male 
or female) in the respective Management Boards and the Supervisory Boards by the end of 
2030. Both companies have defined the sub-top as the managers that are part of the respective 
management teams, and aim to have equal representation (50%) of female and male for these 
bodies by the end of 2030.

For Inter IKEA Holding B.V., the Management Board in FY25 was 100% male, while the 
Supervisory Board had two female board members out of seven members (29%). The Inter 
IKEA Group management team consisted of nine members of which six are female (67%). For 
Inter IKEA Systems B.V., the Management Board had two females out of five members (40%), 
while the Supervisory Board had one female out of three members (33%). The Retail Concept 
management team consisted of ten members of which six are female (60%).

In general, good progress has been made during past years to reach our targets while 
recognising the required focus on the Inter IKEA Holding B.V. Management Board. A specific 
action plan has been prepared to build long-term leadership succession and to map a 
succession pipeline. In addition, regular actions ensure the gender balance on other levels.

Suppliers and franchisees
The Group has a responsibility to secure good social, environmental and working conditions 
for the many people in the IKEA value chain. The supplier code of conduct ('IWAY') and the 
code of conduct for IKEA franchisees ('IConduct') describe our minimum requirements on 
environmental, social and working conditions. It is a starting point for developing shared values 
and expectations with our suppliers and franchisees.

Since its inception in 2000, IWAY has been regularly updated to address emerging social and 
environmental risks. IWAY entails a set of requirements applicable to every supplier. IKEA 
suppliers are responsible for communicating the content of the IKEA Supplier code of conduct to 
their employees and sub-suppliers and ensuring that all required measures are implemented at 
their own operations. While IWAY has a focus on supporting suppliers to continuously develop, 
compliance with mandatory IWAY requirements remains the foundation. The Group performs 
many verification activities throughout the supply chain to secure compliance, varying from gap 
assessments for new suppliers to full or focused audits for existing suppliers. Non-compliance 
with IWAY is addressed with root cause analyses and implementation of corrective actions. 
Business relationships with suppliers that don't address issues in a reliable and consistent way 
are terminated.

IConduct was updated during FY25 and is mandatory to follow for all IKEA franchisees in order 
to secure responsible business and to protect the IKEA Brand. In addition, IKEA franchisees are 
required to have effective compliance-routines in place, and to report any material incidents to 
Inter IKEA Systems B.V.
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Environmental issues
No material environmental issues occurred during FY25. Especially within the production 
units, much attention is given to compliance with environmental regulations through regular 
equipment verification and condition checks, and through active air emission monitoring 
and documentation.

Development and innovation

The Group is committed to make IKEA more affordable, accessible and sustainable for 
customers. To make that happen, the Group invests in new ways to shop, more efficient and 
sustainable ways of working, and an inspiring, functional, sustainable and affordable IKEA 
product range.

Meeting the customer
The Group works closely with IKEA franchisees to bring the IKEA retail experience closer to 
where people live, work and socialise. This means locations in large cities or metropolitan areas, 
and an omnichannel offering that meets customer needs and provides a seamless and unique 
customer experience. IKEA is growing in existing markets by adding smaller retail formats that 
complement the larger traditional blue box stores. This allows IKEA products to become more 
easily available and accessible to customers and make shopping more convenient in urban 
areas. The smaller formats also provide inspiration and the opportunity to shop, plan, order or 
pick up online orders.

IKEA retail operations expanded with smaller retail formats in new and existing markets. In 
FY25, IKEA opened 66 new sales locations, including new large stores in Gangdong (South 
Korea), Guadalajara (Mexico) and Madinah (Saudi Arabia), along with small stores in San Antonio 
(United States), Delhi (India), Heraklion (Greece), Paris (France), Pärnu (Estonia) and London 
(United Kingdom).

Preparations are ongoing to open a store in Aukland, New Zealand with nationwide e-commerce 
in December 2025. Furthermore, upcoming new market entries to Panama and Costa Rica will 
strengthen presence in the Americas region.

Range development
The Group continued to invest in product innovation and new material technologies aimed at 
introducing new and exciting products at lower prices without compromising on sustainability, 
form, function and quality. One example is the playful asymmetrical ZEBRASÄV pendant 
lampshade partly made from recycled plastic.

The new BÄSINGEN series consisting of six products is specially designed as a helping hand 
for the young, old and people with physical limitations in the bathroom and rest of the home. 
The products were created to bring great functionality together with a beautiful design. The 
minimalistic expression is rooted in Scandinavian design tradition and blends in with every style. 
The safety, strength and durability of the products meet the highest European standards.

Manufacturing and distribution
The Group is constantly looking for new ways to make production more sustainable and 
efficient. During FY25, IKEA Components continued to replace more and more plastic fitting bags 
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with paper-based ones that are produced inhouse using paper from production waste. The goal 
is to ultimately phase out plastic consumer packaging for IKEA products completely by 2028.

Together with a local supplier in Åseda, Sweden, the Group has ramped up production of metal 
pots partly made of recycled steel and aluminium. All raw material waste from the process is 
returned for reuse. In addition, alternative designs for the production of mattresses and sofas 
using renewable and recycle foam content proved successful in FY25. Building on this, the Group 
is setting up a pilot production in Europe for a pocket spring mattress where the majority of 
components are made from recycled materials.

ERP implementation
The IKEA value chain has grown more complex over the years with an omnichannel offering and 
increased variations in customer meetings points and locations. Optimising our supply chain 
with access to real-time information and improved visibility of transactions and inventory, is key 
to secure a resilient supply chain without increasing costs. One important element hereof is 
to create a transactional backbone that connects physical and financial flows, with a focus on 
inventory management and replenishment to secure the best availability of IKEA products for 
customers - independent of where they shop.

A central aspect in creating a transactional backbone is to standardise, automate, 
and modernise processes and technology within order and financial management. The 
implementation of a new ERP solution for the wholesale entities in Supply will be the 
main change driver for this business transformation. During FY25, the first part of this 
implementation was completed by replacing current general ledger systems with a new digital 
core. The implementation will continue in FY26 and FY27 addressing the inbound and outbound 
goods flows and financial transactions.

Outlook for financial year FY26

The Group intends to maintain the current level of wholesale prices to the IKEA retailers to 
secure stability in the franchise system and affordability for our customers. Moderate growth 
in the Group's revenues and volumes is anticipated for FY26 and the Group expects to 
remain profitable.

During FY26, while remaining prudent and cost conscious, investments in development activities 
by Retail Concept, Range and Supply will continue. The Group will finance these investments 
from its own funds.
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MANAGEMENT BOARD

Jon Abrahamsson Ring (Chairman)

Henrik Elm

Delft, 6 November 2025
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 AUGUST 2025

(before profit appropriation, in millions of EUR)

Note FY25 FY24
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 4 8,899 8,821
Tangible fixed assets 5 1,952 1,794
Financial fixed assets 6 285 303
Total fixed assets 11,136 10,918

Current assets
Inventories 7 4,832 4,108
Trade and other receivables 8 3,212 3,282
Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,937 4,164

10,981 11,554

TOTAL ASSETS 22,117 22,472

Group equity 10 18,815 19,212

Provisions 11 142 94

Non-current liabilities 13 72 84

Current liabilities 14 3,088 3,082

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 22,117 22,472
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FY25

(in millions of EUR)

Note FY25 FY24

Net turnover 26,183 26,596
Change in inventory of finished goods 107 (82)
Other operating income 16 24
Total operating income 17 26,306 26,538

Cost of raw materials and consumables 21,328 21,048
Cost of outsourced work and other external costs 239 227
Salaries and wages 18 1,099 978
Social charges 259 230
Pension expenses 116 102
Depreciation and amortisation 4,5 510 462
Impairments of fixed assets 4,5,6 (2) 27
Other operating expenses 18 1,032 1,125
Total operating expenses 24,581 24,199

Operating result 1,725 2,339

Financial income 273 400
Financial expense 46 74
Financial income and expense 19 227 326

Result before tax 1,952 2,665

Income tax 20 415 466
Share of results from participating interests 41 -

Net result 1,496 2,199
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FY25

(in millions of EUR)

Note FY25 FY24

Operating result 1,725 2,339

Adjusted for:
- Depreciation / amortisation 4,5 510 462
- Impairments 4,5 (2) 27
- Other value adjustments 4,5 15 (27)
- Changes in provisions 11 48 (24)
- Changes in working capital (788) 1,715
Cash flow from business operations 1,508 4,492

Interest received 110 179
Interest paid (9) (50)
Income tax paid (362) (320)
Cash flow from operating activities 1,247 4,301

Investments in:
- Intangible fixed assets 4 (295) (2)
- Tangible fixed assets 5 (382) (245)
- Acquisition of companies 6 (27) (16)
Disposals of:
- Tangible fixed assets 5 11 19
Issuance of loans receivable 6 (41) (20)
Repayment of loans receivable 6 77 8
Cash flow from investing activities (657) (256)

Repayment of long term financing 13 (12) (2)
Short term financing 14 2 952
Dividend paid 10 (1,800) (1,000)
Cash flows from financing activities (1,810) (50)

Net cash flow (1,220) 3,995

Exchange rate and translation differences on cash (7) -

Changes in cash and cash equivalents (1,227) 3,995

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 4,164 169
Cash and cash equivalents at end 2,937 4,164
Net movement in cash (1,227) 3,995
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FY25

(in millions of EUR)

FY25 FY24

Net result 1,496 2,199
Change in unrealised derivatives (68) 187
Remeasurements of defined benefit pensions plans (5) (6)
Exchange rate differences (22) 56
Other 2 18
Total comprehensive income 1,403 2,454
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  CORPORATE INFORMATION

Inter IKEA Holding B.V. (‘the Company’), was incorporated on 30 September 1992, is a private 
limited liability company under Dutch law and is registered as a financial holding under number 
27163852 in the trade register and has its corporate seat at Olof Palmestraat 1 in Delft. Inter IKEA 
Holding B.V. is the ultimate parent of a group of companies that together form the Inter IKEA 
Group (‘the Group’).

The Company has issued 1 class A share and 125 class B shares. All shares are held by 
Inter IKEA Foundation as the 100% shareholder and ultimate owner. Shares entitle Inter IKEA 
Foundation to voting rights in the General Meeting as well as full rights to the distributable 
profits and reserves.

These financial statements cover the 12-month period which ended at 31 August 2025 (‘FY25’). 
Comparative figures reflect the 12-month period which ended at 31 August 2024 (‘FY24’).

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION

Both the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with Title 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. The 
accounting policies applied for measurement of assets and liabilities and the determination 
of results are based on the historical cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the further 
accounting principles.

Application of Section 402, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code
The financial information of the Company is included in the consolidated financial statements. 
For this reason, in accordance with Section 402, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, the 
separate profit and loss account of the Company exclusively states the share of the result of 
participating interests after tax and the other results after tax.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the going concern assumption.

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General
Assets and liabilities are measured at historical cost, unless otherwise stated in the 
further principles.

An asset is recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that the expected future 
economic benefits, that are attributable to the asset, will flow to the Company and the cost or 
value of the asset can be measured reliably. Assets that are not recognised in the balance sheet 
are considered as off-balance sheet assets. A liability is recognised in the balance sheet when 
it is expected that the settlement of an existing obligation will result in an outflow of resources 
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embodying economic benefits and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. 
Provisions are included in the liabilities of the company. Liabilities that are not recognized in the 
balance sheet are considered off-balance sheet liabilities.

An asset or liability that is recognised in the balance sheet, remains on the balance sheet if 
a transaction (with respect to the asset or liability) does not lead to a major change in the 
economic substance with respect to the asset or liability.

An asset or liability is derecognised in the balance sheet when a transaction results in all or 
substantially all rights to economic benefits and all or substantially all of the risks related to the 
asset or liability being transferred to a third party. In such cases, the results of the transaction 
are directly recognised in the profit and loss account, taking into account any provisions related 
to the transaction. If assets are recognised of which the Company does not have the legal 
ownership, this fact will be disclosed.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in euros (‘EUR’), which is also the Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information in euros has been rounded to the nearest million, unless 
stated otherwise.

Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to form opinions and to 
make estimates and assumptions that have an impact on the application of principles and the 
reported values of assets and liabilities and of income and expenditure. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. Estimates and the underlying assumptions are constantly assessed. 
Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.

The following accounting policies are in the opinion of management the most critical for the 
purpose of presenting the financial position and require estimates and assumptions.

• The useful life of intangible fixed assets and tangible fixed assets;
• Accounting estimates made as part of acquisition accounting for business 

combinations;
• Obsolescence of stock;
• Provisions for litigation and claims;
• Uncertain tax positions;
• Valuation of trade receivables.

Refer to the accounting policies of the respective balance sheet items for details on the 
assumptions made.

Consolidation scope
The consolidated financial statements include the financial information of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are participating interests in which the Company (and/or one or more 
of its subsidiaries) can exercise more than half of the voting rights in the general meeting, or can 
appoint or dismiss more than half of the managing directors or supervisory directors.
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Newly acquired participating interests are consolidated as from the date that decisive 
influence (control) can be exercised. Participating interests disposed of, remain included in the 
consolidation until the date of loss of this influence.

For an overview of all subsidiaries included in the Group, reference is made to the listing of 
subsidiaries that has been filed by the Company at the Chamber of Commerce.

Business combinations
A business combination is a transaction whereby the Group obtains control over the assets 
and liabilities and the activities of the acquired party. Business combinations are accounted for 
using the 'purchase accounting' method on the date that control is transferred to the Group 
(the acquisition date). The transaction price is the cash consideration or equivalent agreed as 
part of the acquisition, or the fair value of the consideration transferred at the acquisition date. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the business combination are allocated to the 
transaction price. In case of deferred payment of the consideration, the transaction price is the 
discounted value of the consideration.

The Group recognises the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired party at the 
acquisition date. These assets and liabilities are recognised individually at their fair values, 
provided that it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group (assets) or 
settlement will result in an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits (liabilities), and 
the cost or fair value thereof can be measured with reliability.

Goodwill represents the difference between the costs of a business combination and fair value 
at the date of the acquired equity value of the company. Goodwill is capitalised and amortised 
over its expected useful life.

Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by using uniform accounting policies for 
measurement and determination of the result of the Group.

In the consolidated financial statements, intragroup shareholdings, liabilities, receivables and 
transactions are eliminated. Also, the results on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated to the extent that the results are not realised through transactions with third parties 
outside the Group and no impairment loss is applicable.

Translation of foreign currencies
At initial recognition, transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into the 
Company’s functional currency at the exchange rates at the date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the balance 
sheet date into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate applying on that date. 
Exchange differences resulting from the settlement of monetary items or resulting from the 
translation of monetary items denominated in foreign currency, are recognised in profit and 
loss in the period in which the exchange difference occurs. Exempt from this are exchange 
differences on monetary items that are part of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Inter IKEA Holding B.V. Annual Report FY25 Page 20 of 63



Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency that are measured based 
on historical cost, are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates as at the date 
of the transactions.

The assets and liabilities that are part of the net investment in a foreign operation are translated 
into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the reporting date. The income 
and expenses of a foreign operation are translated into euros at the average exchange rate 
for the year. Currency translation differences are recognised in the translation reserve within 
equity. When a foreign operation is fully or partially sold, the respective amount is transferred 
from translation reserve to the profit or loss account. When (partially) control is lost, the reserve 
is utilised.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments include trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, money 
market funds, loans and other financing commitments, trade payables, other amounts payable 
and derivative financial instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet at the moment that the 
contractual risks or rewards with respect to that financial instrument originate. Financial 
instruments are derecognised if a transaction results in a considerate part of the contractual 
risks or rewards with respect to that financial instrument being transferred to a third party.

Financial and non-financial contracts may contain terms and conditions that meet the definition 
of derivative financial instruments. Such an agreement is separated from the host contract and 
accounted as a stand-alone derivative if its economic characteristics and risks are not closely 
related to those of the host contract, a separate instrument with the same terms and conditions 
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined 
instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the profit 
and loss account. Financial instruments embedded in contracts that are not separated from the 
host contract are recognised in accordance with the host contract. Derivatives separated from 
the host contract are, in accordance with the measurement policy for derivatives for which no 
cost price hedge accounting is applied, measured at cost or lower fair value.

A purchase or sale of non-derivative financial assets according to standard market conventions 
is, by class of financial assets and financial liabilities, systematically recognised or derecognised 
in the balance sheet on the settlement date (date of transfer).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, including discount or premium 
and directly attributable transaction costs. However, if financial instruments are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit and loss, then directly attributable transaction costs 
are directly recognised in the profit and loss account at the initial recognition. After initial 
recognition, financial instruments are valued in the manner described below.

Loans granted and other receivables
Loans granted and other receivables are carried at amortised cost on the basis of the effective 
interest method, less impairment losses. The effective interest and impairment losses, if any, 
are directly recognised in the profit and loss account. Purchases and sales of financial assets 
that belong to the category loans granted and other receivables are accounted for at the 
transaction date.
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Trade and other receivables
Receivables are measured after their initial recognition at amortised cost (except for derivatives) 
less allowance for uncollectible amounts.

Non-current and current liabilities and other financial commitments
Non-current and current liabilities and other financial commitments are measured after their 
initial recognition at amortised cost on the basis of the effective interest rate method. The 
effective interest is directly recorded in the profit and loss account.

Redemption payments regarding non-current liabilities that are due next year, are presented 
under current liabilities.

Derivatives and hedge accounting
Derivatives are measured at fair value with recognition of all changes in value in the profit and 
loss account, except where hedge accounting is used to hedge the variability of future cash 
flows that affect the profit and loss account (cash flow hedge accounting).

Cash flow hedge
If cash flow hedge accounting is used, the effective portion of the fair value changes of the 
derivatives is initially recognised in other comprehensive income. As soon as the expected 
future transactions lead to the recognition of gains or losses in the profit and loss account, the 
respective amounts are transferred from the hedging reserve of other comprehensive income to 
the profit and loss account. The net result of these gains and losses is recognised in the profit 
and loss account.

If a derivative no longer meets the conditions for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, or 
if the Company has decided to no longer apply hedge accounting, the hedging relationship 
is terminated. The deferred gains or losses recognised at the time of the termination of the 
hedging relationship remain in equity until the expected future transaction takes place. If 
the transaction is no longer expected to take place, the deferred gain or loss on the hedge 
recognised in equity is transferred to the profit and loss account.

Conditions for hedge accounting
The Company uses hedge accounting documentation, documenting the specific hedge 
relationships in the dedicated treasury management system and regularly assesses the 
effectiveness of the hedging relationships by establishing whether the hedge is effective or that 
there is no over-hedging.

The Company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking hedge transactions together with methods selected to assess hedge effectiveness. 
The Company also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, 
of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are effective in offsetting 
changes in future cash flows (the hedged items). The effectiveness test is performed by 
comparing the critical attributes of the hedging instrument with the hedged item, namely 
currency pair, maturity date and notional amount. If there is an over-hedge, the related value 
based on the lower of cost or fair value is recognised directly in the profit and loss account.

Inter IKEA Holding B.V. Annual Report FY25 Page 22 of 63



Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets (e.g. long-term loans receivable) are assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that they are impaired. A financial asset is 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, with negative impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset, which can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a 
debtor, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the 
payment status of borrowers or issuers, indications that a debtor or issuer is approaching 
bankruptcy, or the disappearance of an active market for a security.

The entity considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost. All 
individually significant assets are assessed individually for impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset stated at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

Impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account and reflected in an allowance 
account against loans and receivables or investment securities held to maturity. Interest on the 
impaired asset continues to be recognised by using the asset's original effective interest rate.

When, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases, and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss (up to the amount of the original 
amortised cost).

Offsetting financial instruments
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset when the entity has a legally enforceable right 
to set off the financial asset and financial liability and the Company has the firm intention to 
settle the balance on a net basis, or to settle the asset and the liability simultaneously.

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are only recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that the 
expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Company 
and the cost of that asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible fixed assets are measured at acquisition or development cost, less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

Expenditures made after the initial recognition of an acquired or constructed intangible fixed 
asset are included to the acquisition or construction cost if it is probable that the expenditures 
will lead to an increase in the expected future economic benefits, and the expenditures and the 
allocation to the asset can be measured reliably. If expenditures do not meet these conditions, 
they are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account.

The accounting principles for the recognition of an impairment are included under the section 
‘Impairment of fixed assets’.
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the difference between the costs of a business combination and fair value 
at the date of the acquired equity value of the company. Goodwill is capitalised and amortised 
over its expected useful life.

Proprietary Rights
The Proprietary Rights include the IKEA trademark, protection rights, intellectual property rights 
and the rights to the IKEA catalogue.

The IKEA Brand and IKEA Concept have shown strong income and cash flow performance 
over the last decades. We have the intent and ability to support the IKEA Brand with 
marketplace spending for the foreseeable future. Applicable Dutch accounting principles require 
us to amortise these Proprietary Rights based on expected economic life. Determining an 
expected economic life of the Proprietary Rights requires management assessment and is 
based on a number of factors, including: expected usage of the IKEA Brand and IKEA Concept, 
development of our market share, expectations on market development, consumer awareness 
and anticipated future expansion. Based on these factors, the expected economic life is set at 
45 years.

At the end of each financial year, the recoverable amount of the Proprietary Rights is assessed 
for impairment, even if there is no indication of impairment.

Accounting for emission rights
The group recognizes emissions certificates as current intangible assets. Emissions certificates 
that are received from the government and traded on the market are initially measured at cost. 
This follows the same principle as for the intangible fixed assets set above. The impact of these 
certificates is immaterial.

Software
Internally developed software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method and starts when the software is 
ready for usage. Internally developed software is capitalized if the following conditions are met: 
the intention exists to complete the asset and after completion to use or sell it (including the 
availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to achieve this), it is probable 
that the asset will generate future economic benefits, and the costs during the development 
phase can be determined reliably. The useful life differs per software platform. A legal reserve is 
formed for the capitalised development costs that have not yet been amortised.

Externally purchased software is recognised at acquisition cost, including any directly 
attributable costs necessary to bring the software into use.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Company and the cost 
of that asset can be measured reliably.

Land and buildings, machinery and equipment, construction in progress and other fixed 
operating assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The 
cost comprises the price of acquisition or manufacturing, plus other costs that are necessary to 
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bring the assets to their location and in condition for their intended use. Investment grants 
are deducted from the cost of the assets to which the grants relate. Expenditure is only 
capitalised when it extends the useful life of the asset. Costs of major rebuilding, repairs or 
maintenance are capitalised at cost, when incurred and if the recognition criteria are met, using 
the component approach. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged directly to the 
profit and loss account.

The Company applies the component approach for tangible fixed assets if important 
individual components of a tangible fixed asset can be distinguished from each other. Taking 
into account differences in useful life or expected pattern of use, these components are 
depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each item of the tangible fixed assets, taking into account any 
estimated residual value of the individual assets. Depreciation starts as soon as the asset is 
available for its intended use, and ends at decommissioning or divestment. No depreciation is 
recognised on land.

Long-term loans receivable
The accounting policies for Long-term loans receivable are included under the heading 
‘Financial instruments’.

Deferred tax assets
The accounting policies for deferred tax assets are explained under the heading ‘Corporate 
income tax’.

Impairment of fixed assets
Tangible and intangible fixed assets are assessed at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication of an impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and net realisable value. If it is 
not possible to assess the recoverable amount for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is 
assessed for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.

When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised for the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount. 
If there is an impairment loss for a CGU, the loss is first allocated to goodwill allocated to the 
CGU. Any residual loss is allocated to the other assets of the unit pro rata to their book values.

Subsequently, at each reporting date, the entity assesses whether there is any indication that an 
impairment loss that was recorded in previous years has been decreased. If any such indication 
exists, then the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated.

Reversal of a previously recognised impairment loss only takes place when there is a change 
in the assessment used to determine the recoverable amount since the recognition of the last 
impairment loss. In such case, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to its 
recoverable amount, but not higher than the carrying amount that would have applied (net of 
depreciation) if no impairment loss had been recognised in previous years for the asset (or CGU).
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Contrary to what is stated before, at each reporting date the recoverable amount is assessed for 
the following assets (irrespective of whether there is any indicator of an impairment):

• intangible assets that have not been put into use yet;
• intangible assets that are amortised over a useful life of more than 20 years (counting 

from the moment of initial operation/use).

Disposal of fixed assets
Fixed assets available for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and net 
realisable value.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the expenses 
for acquisition or manufacturing, plus other expenditure to bring the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Net realisable value is based on the most reliable estimate of 
the sales proceeds the inventories will generate, less costs still to make. Valuation of purchased 
goods is calculated based on the ‘first in – first out’ (FIFO) method which assumes that the goods 
purchased first, are the first goods to be sold.

Other receivables
The accounting policies applied for the valuation of other receivables are disclosed under the 
heading ‘Financial instruments’.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at nominal value. If cash and cash equivalents are 
not readily available, this is taken into account in the measurement. Cash and cash equivalents 
cover all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less and include 
cash in hand, deposits that can be withdrawn at any time from the bank without a penalty 
and bank overdrafts. If applicable, bank overdrafts are shown under “Current liabilities” in the 
balance sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the balance 
sheet date in the functional currency at the exchange rate valid at that date. Reference is made 
to the accounting policies for foreign currencies.

Cash and cash equivalents are stated in the balance sheet at fair value.

Shareholders’ equity
Financial instruments that are designated as equity instruments by virtue of the economic 
substance are presented under shareholders’ equity. Payments to holders of these instruments 
are deducted from the shareholders’ equity as part of the profit distribution.

Financial instruments that are designated as a financial liability by virtue of the economic 
substance are presented under liabilities. Interest, dividends, income and expenditure with 
respect to these financial instruments are recognised in the profit and loss as financial income 
or expense.
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Share premium
Amounts contributed by the shareholder(s) of the Company in excess of the nominal share 
capital, are accounted for as share premium. This also includes additional capital contributions 
by existing shareholders without the issue of shares or issue of rights to acquire shares of 
the Company.

Translation reserve
Exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of the functional currency of foreign 
operations to the reporting currency of the parent are accounted for in this legal reserve. In the 
case of the sale of a foreign operation, the associated accumulated exchange differences are 
transferred from the translation reserve to the profit and loss account.

Legal reserve
Other legal reserves consist of a legal reserve for capitalised development costs and a legal 
reserve for non-distributable profits.

Provisions
A provision is recognised if the following applies:

1. the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising from a past event;
2. and the amount of the liability can be estimated reliably;
3. and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation.

If all or part of the payments that are necessary to settle a provision are likely to be fully or 
partially compensated by a third party upon settlement of the provision, then the compensation 
amount is presented separately as an asset.

If the time value of money is material and the period over which the cash outflows are 
discounted is more than one year, provisions are measured at the present value of the best 
estimate of the cash outflows that are expected to be required to settle the liabilities and losses. 
The provisions are measured at nominal value if the time value of money is not material or if the 
period over which the cash outflows are discounted is no longer than one year.

Onerous contracts
The provision for onerous contracts represents the negative difference between the expected 
benefits from services to be received by the Company after the balance sheet date under a 
contract and costs to meet the contractual obligations.

The cost of meeting the obligations of a contract includes the costs directly related to the 
contract. These costs consist of both:

1. the incremental costs of meeting the obligations of a contract, for example, direct labour 
and material costs; and

2. an allocation of other costs that are directly related to fulfilling the obligations of a 
contract, for example, an allocation of depreciation costs of an item of property, plant 
and equipment used, among other things, in the performance of the contract.

Provision for deferred tax liabilities
The accounting policies for deferred tax liabilities are explained under the heading ‘Corporate 
income tax’.
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Pensions and other post-employment benefits
The Company operates a number of pension plans, which have been established in accordance 
with the regulations and practices of the individual countries. The plans include both defined 
contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Accounting standard RJ 271 “Employee Benefits” 
offers the possibility to apply IFRS EU standards relating to the accounting treatment of pensions 
(IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”) in financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. This makes the IFRS standard for pension obligations 
a factual part of the Dutch guidelines (RJ 271.101). The Company applies IAS 19 to all post-
employment benefits.

Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is 
provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in future payments is available.

Defined benefit plans
The net obligations in respect of defined benefit plans are calculated separately for each plan by 
estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in the current and prior 
periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, 
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of 
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan (‘asset ceiling’). 
To calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable 
minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, 
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding 
interest), are recognised immediately in equity. The Group determines the net interest expense 
(income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate 
used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the 
net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest 
expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in 
benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit 
plan when the settlement occurs.

Provision for claims, disputes and lawsuits
A provision for claims, disputes and lawsuits is established when it is expected that the Company 
will be sentenced in legal proceedings. The provision represents the best estimate of the 
amount for which the claim can be settled, including the costs of litigation.

Non-current liabilities
The valuation of non-current liabilities is explained under the heading ‘Financial instruments’.
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Revenue recognition
The company usually recognizes revenue at the level of separate contracts. If it is necessary 
to reflect economic substance, revenue is recognized at the level of a group of contracts, for 
example where the Company has entered into several separate contracts, which have been 
negotiated as a total, separating the individual contracts in terms of pricing and profit margin 
that are closely related and are performed simultaneously or immediately after each other.

Amounts that the Company receives for its own account (as principal) are recognized as 
revenue. Revenues only include the gross increases in economic potential that the Company 
has received or has receivable for its own account.

The Company recognizes revenue for the amount to which the Company expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring promised goods, which is the transaction price. This amount 
excludes amounts received on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognized per separate performance obligation. A performance obligation is a 
commitment in a contract to supply:

• a distinct good or service or a combination of goods or services which are collectively 
distinguishable from other commitments in the contract; or

• a range of distinct services that are largely the same.

A promised good or promised service can be distinguished if the following criteria are met:

• the buyer can use the benefits of the goods or services independently, whether or not 
jointly with resources that the buyer has or can obtain; and

• the commitment to provide the goods or services is distinct from the other 
commitments contained in the contract.

If a contract contains two or more commitments to provide goods or services which are 
separately distinguishable, the commitments are combined into a combination of goods or 
services that are collectively distinct from other commitments in the agreement.

In the event of multiple performance obligations in a contract, the total transaction price 
is allocated to the performance obligations in proportion to the value of the performance 
obligations. The value is based on the stand-alone selling price per performance obligation. 
If the standalone sales price is not known, the Company uses estimates.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is accounted for in net turnover at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume 
rebates. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the profit and loss account when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, the amount of 
the revenue can be determined reliably, recovery of consideration is probable, the associated 
costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing 
involvement with the goods.
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Franchise fees
Franchise fees are received for the use of the IKEA trademarks, patents and software. Revenue 
is recognised when the amount of the consideration receivable can be determined reliably and 
recovery is probable.

Change in inventory of finished goods
Changes in inventories of finished products is related to the manufacturing activities of Supply.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the period to which they relate.

Expenses
Expenses, including interest, are determined with due observance of the aforementioned 
accounting policies and allocated to the year to which they relate. Foreseeable and other 
obligations as well as potential losses arising before the financial year-end are recognised if 
known before the financial statements are prepared and provided all other conditions for the 
recognition of a provision are met.

Employee benefits
Employee benefits are charged to the profit and loss account in the period in which the 
employee services are rendered and, to the extent not already paid, as a liability on the balance 
sheet. If the amount already paid exceeds the benefits owed, the excess is recognised as a 
current asset to the extent that there will be a reimbursement by the employees or a reduction 
in future payments by the Company.

For benefits with accumulating rights and bonuses, the projected costs are taken into account 
during the employment. An expected payment resulting from profit-sharing and bonus 
payments is recognised if the obligation for that payment has arisen on or before the balance 
sheet date and a reliable estimate of the liabilities can be made.

If a benefit is paid in case of non-accumulating rights (e.g., continued payment in case of 
sickness or disability), the projected costs are recognised in the period in which such benefit 
is payable. For existing commitments at the balance sheet date to continue the payment 
of benefits (including termination benefits) to employees who are expected to be unable 
to perform work wholly or partly due to sickness or disability in the future, a provision 
is recognised.

The recognised liability relates to the best estimate of the expenditure necessary to settle the 
obligation at the balance sheet date. The best estimate is based on contractual agreements 
with employees (collective agreement and individual employment contract). Additions to and 
reversals of liabilities are charged or credited to the profit and loss account.

The liability for benefits during employment is measured at present value of the expenditure 
expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Leasing
The Company may enter into finance and operating leases. A lease agreement under which the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the leased object are carried entirely or almost entirely by 
the lessee are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases. For 
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the lease classification, the economic substance of the transaction is conclusive rather than the 
legal form.

At inception of an arrangement, the Company assesses whether the lease classifies as a finance 
or operating lease.

If the Company acts as lessee in an operating lease, the leased property is not capitalised. 
Benefits received as an incentive to enter into an agreement are recognised as a reduction of 
rental expense over the lease term. Lease payments and benefits regarding operating leases 
are recognised to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits from the use 
of the leased asset.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income is recognised in the profit and loss account on an accrual basis, using 
the effective interest rate method. Financial expenses and similar expenses are recognised 
in the period to which they belong. Hedge results are recorded in financial income and 
expense on a net basis. Furthermore, Interest income includes income from interest-bearing 
marketable securities (i.e., Money market funds). Money market fund investments consist of 
equity investments which are redeemable within one working day upon demand. Money market 
investments are carried at fair value of the unit of the respective fund and are recognised in the 
profit and loss as financial income or expense.

Corporate income tax
Corporate income tax comprises the current and deferred corporate income tax payable and 
deductible for the reporting period. Corporate income tax is recognised in the profit and loss 
account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case it 
is recognised in equity, or to business combinations.

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable profit or loss for the 
financial year, calculated using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, 
and any adjustment to the tax payable in respect of previous years. If the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting differ from their values for tax purposes (tax base), 
this results in temporary differences. For taxable temporary differences, a provision for deferred 
tax liabilities is recognised.

For deductible temporary differences, available tax losses and unused tax credits, a deferred 
tax asset is recognised, but only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available for set-off or compensation. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.

For taxable temporary differences relating to group companies, foreign branches, associates 
and joint ventures, a deferred tax liability is recognised, unless it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities 
and deferred tax assets is based on the tax consequences following from the manner in which 
the Company expects, at the balance sheet date, to realise or settle its assets, provisions, debts 
and accrued liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at nominal value.
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The Group is in scope of the OECD Pillar Two legislation. Any tax imposed on the Group’s profits 
as a result of the implementation of the OECD Pillar Two model rules is considered as an income 
tax and recognized accordingly. Recharges of such taxes are recognized in the same way and 
are borne by IIHBV as parent entity of the Group in accordance with RJ272.803(d). The Group 
applies the mandatory exemption of RJ272.102a and does not recognize deferred tax assets and 
liabilities with respect to the OECD Pillar Two legislation.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 
include cash and investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash without a 
significant risk of changes in value. Cash flows in foreign currency are translated into euros 
using the weighted average exchange rate for the reporting period. Currency translation 
differences with regard to cash and cash equivalents are presented separately in the cash 
flow statement.

Receipts and payments of interest and income taxes are presented within the cash flows 
from operating activities. Payments of dividends are presented within the cash flows from 
financing activities.

Cash flows from derivative financial instruments that are accounted for as fair value hedges or 
cash flow hedges, are classified in the same category as the cash flows from the hedged balance 
sheet items and are part of changes in working capital. Cash flows from derivative financial 
instruments whereby hedge accounting is no longer applied, are classified in accordance with 
the nature of the instrument, from the date at which hedge accounting is ended.

Determination of fair value
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which an asset can be sold or a liability 
settled, involving parties who are well informed regarding the matter, willing to enter into a 
transaction and are independent from each other.

• The fair value of listed financial instruments is determined on the basis of the exit price.
• The fair value of non-listed financial instruments is determined by discounting the 

expected cash flows to their present value, applying a discount rate that is equal 
to the current risk-free market interest rate for the remaining term, plus credit and 
liquidity surcharges.

• The fair value of derivatives involving the exchange of collateral is determined without 
the credit or liquidity surcharges since this risk is mitigated by the collateral exchange.

Related parties and related party transactions
Transactions with related parties are assumed when a relationship exists between the Company 
and a natural person or entity that is affiliated with the Company. This includes, amongst 
others, the relationship between the Company and its subsidiaries, shareholders, directors and 
key management personnel. Transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations, 
regardless whether anything has been charged.

Subsequent events
Events that provide further information on the actual situation at the balance sheet date and 
that appear before the financial statements are being prepared, are recognised in the financial 
statements. Events that provide no further information on the actual situation at the balance 
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sheet date are not recognised in the financial statements. When those events are relevant 
for the economic decisions of users of the financial statements, the nature and the estimated 
financial effects are disclosed in the financial statements.

4.  INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Movements in intangible fixed assets were as follows:

Proprietary 
rights Software Goodwill Other Total

Balance as at 1 September 
2024:
Purchase price 11,800 216 - 6 12,022
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (2,982) (216) - (3) (3,201)
Carrying amount 8,818 - - 3 8,821

Changes in carrying amount:
Additions - 89 198 93 380
Amortisation (273) (1) (15) (13) (302)
Other - 1 - (2) (1)
Balance 8,545 89 183 81 8,898

Balance as at 31 August 2025:
Purchase price 11,800 310 198 104 12,412
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (3,255) (221) (15) (22) (3,513)
Carrying amount closing 8,545 89 183 82 8,899

Estimated useful life (years) 45 3-5 10 Various

Proprietary Rights
In 2011 the Company (through its subsidiary Inter IKEA Systems B.V.), acquired the beneficial 
interest of the IKEA Proprietary Rights (“IP Rights”) from Interogo Foundation for a total 
consideration of EUR 11,800 million. These IP Rights include the IKEA trademark, protection 
rights, and other intellectual property rights.

Software
Software costs relate to various internally developed and externally purchased software to 
gain economic benefits. During the year software solutions were acquired to consolidate and 
enhance digital capabilities within the Group. The expected useful life is aligned with the 
expected economic benefits.

Acquisition Baltic retail operations
In 2025, the Company (through its subsidiary Inter IKEA Retail Holding B.V.) acquired the IKEA 
retail operations in the Baltics from an IKEA franchisee. The acquisition resulted in recognition 
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of EUR 198 million goodwill and EUR 91 million reacquired rights, which are recorded as part 
of Other.

5.  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Movements in tangible fixed assets were as follows:

Land
and 

buildings

Mach.
and

equip.

Constr.
in

progress Other Total

Balance as at 1 September 
2024:
Purchase price 1,683 1,388 270 139 3,480
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment (619) (949) (8) (110) (1,686)
Carrying amount 1,064 439 262 29 1,794

Changes in carrying amount:
Investments 141 36 194 11 382
Disposals (4) (2) (4) (1) (11)
Transfers 44 190 (247) 13 -
Depreciation (83) (113) - (12) (208)
Reversal of impairment - 2 - - 2
Other (6) (5) 5 (1) (7)
Balance 1,156 547 210 39 1,952

Balance as at 31 August 2025:
Purchase price 1,858 1,607 218 161 3,844
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment (702) (1,060) (8) (122) (1,892)
Carrying amount 1,156 547 210 39 1,952

Estimated useful life (years) 0-50 3-20 N/A Various

Tangible fixed assets carried at cost do not include capitalised interest charges.

Tangible fixed assets include an amount of EUR 26 million (FY24: EUR 29 million), which is 
pledged for debts to credit institutions.

Construction in progress is mainly related to the factories.
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6.  FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

Movements in financial fixed assets were as follows:

Deferred
tax

asset
LT loans 

receivable Other Total

Balance as at 1 September 2024: 170 85 48 303

Changes in carrying amount:
Investments - - 27 27
Additions 15 - - 15
New loans - 41 - 41
Used (13) - - (13)
Released (5) - - (5)
Divestments - - (3) (3)
Repayments - (77) - (77)
Share in result of associates - - (39) (39)
From long-term to current portion - 17 - 17
Write-off - 43 - 43
Other - (25) 1 (24)
Balance (3) (1) (14) (18)

Balance as at 31 August 2025: 167 84 34 285

The deferred tax assets relate to deductible temporary differences. It is expected EUR 22 million 
(FY24: EUR 15 million) will be offset within one year.

The long-term loans receivable mainly encompass supplier financing with a gross amount 
of EUR 95 million (FY24: EUR 114 million), off-set by a provision of EUR 43 million (FY24: 
EUR 86 million). The current part of the long-term loans receivable has been presented under 
Receivables which is the gross outstanding amount.

Other financial fixed assets relate to investments in associates.

7.  INVENTORIES

Movements in tangible fixed assets were as follows:

FY25 FY24

Raw materials 298 258
Work in progress 71 65
Finished goods 409 302
Trade goods 4,054 3,483
Total 4,832 4,108
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A limited part of the trade goods is valued at the net realizable value, as we measure inventories 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. All other inventories are valued at cost.

The movement in the provision for obsolescence for inventories is as follows:

FY25 FY24
Balance as at 1 September 2024: 235 245
Addition, charged to the profit and loss account 174 207
Write-offs charged against the provision (62) (106)
Release, credited to the profit and loss account (150) (111)
Balance as at 31 August 2025: 197 235

8.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FY25 FY24

Trade receivables 2,749 2,828
Current portion of long-term loans receivable 40 67
Income tax receivable 44 50
Indirect tax receivable 96 153
Derivatives assets 22 37
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 213 95
Short-term loans receivable 3rd party 2 6
Other receivables 46 46
Total 3,212 3,282

The trade and other receivables all have an estimated maturity shorter than one year.

The carrying values of the recognised receivables approximate their respective fair values, given 
the short maturities of the positions and the fact that allowances for doubtful debts have been 
recognised, if necessary.

FY25 FY24

Amortised cost of outstanding receivables 2,749 2,829
Less: allowance for doubtful debts - (1)
Trade Receivables 2,749 2,828

9.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include an amount of EUR 26 million (FY24: EUR 29 million) relating to 
guarantees that are not immediately accessible.

Money markets
Money markets investments consist of EUR 2,620 million (FY24: EUR 3,893 million), which are 
redeemable within one working day upon demand.
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Short-term deposits
Short-term deposits (less than three months maturity) consist of EUR 93 million (FY24: 
EUR 66 million), which are redeemable within one working day upon demand.

10.  GROUP EQUITY

For details on shareholders’ equity, refer to note 5 in the Company financial statements.

11.  PROVISIONS

Movements in provisions can be specified as follows:

Pension

Deferred 
tax

liability Other Total

Balance as at 1 September 2024: 22 37 35 94
Changes:
- Provisions made during the year 4 24 32 60
- Provisions used during the year - (6) (7) (13)
- Provisions released during the year - (5) (4) (9)
- Other (1) 12 (1) 10
Balance as at 31 August 2025: 25 62 55 142

The Company has recognised a provision for deferred taxes for differences between valuation 
principles for financial reporting purposes and for tax purposes. It is expected EUR 9 million 
(FY24: EUR 15 million) will be offset within one year.

For details on the provision for pensions commitments in, the Netherlands and Switzerland refer 
to note 12. The remaining amount is divided over several countries.

The provision in respect of claims, disputes and lawsuits mainly relates to product infringement 
claims and product liability involving the Company and/or its group companies.

The provision for Other consists of a recovery provision, legal claim provision, jubilee provision 
and different types of smaller provisions spread over all entities.

12.  PENSION AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

FY25 FY24

Defined benefit obligation - funded plans 228 219
Defined benefit obligation - unfunded plans 80 87
Fair value on plan assets (357) (329)
Effect of asset ceiling 53 28
Net defined benefit liability (asset) 4 5
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The Group has a number of defined benefit pension plans in the Netherlands and Switzerland.

There are minimum funding requirements applicable for the pension plans in the Netherlands 
and Switzerland as set out by local legislation.

For most salaried employees in Sweden, the ITP 2 plan's defined-benefit pension commitments 
for old-age and family pensions are secured through insurance with Alecta. According to IAS 19, 
the pension plan ITP 2 financed through insurance with Alecta is a defined benefit plan that 
covers multiple employers. For the financial year ending 31 August 2025, the company has not 
had access to information in order to be able to report its proportional share of the plan's 
obligations, plan assets and costs, which meant that the plan was not possible to report as a 
defined benefit plan. The ITP 2 pension plan that is secured through insurance with Alecta is 
therefore reported as a defined contribution plan. Premiums for the defined-benefit old-age and 
family pensions are calculated individually and are dependent on, among other things, salary, 
previously earned pension and expected remaining period of service.

The collective consolidation level is the market value of Alecta's assets as a percentage of the 
insurance commitments calculated according to Alecta's actuarial methods and assumptions. 
The collective consolidation level should normally be allowed to vary between 125 and 
175 percent. In order to strengthen the level of consolidation if it is deemed to be too low, 
one measure may be to increase the agreed price for new subscriptions and changes of existing 
benefits. If the consolidation level exceeds 150 percent, premium reductions can be introduced. 
At the end of June 2025, Alecta's surplus in the form of the collective consolidation level 
amounted to 161 percent (FY24: 164 percent).
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Movement in Net defined benefit liability

Defined 
benefit Fair value of

Net defined 
benefit

obligation plan assets
liability 
(asset)

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Balance at 1 September 306 252 (329) (273) 5 3

Included in profit or loss
Current service cost 17 16 - - 17 16
Past service cost - 1 - - - 1
Interest cost / (income) 8 8 (10) (9) - -

25 25 (10) (9) 17 17

Included in OCI
Remeasurements of defined benefit 
pensions plans:
- Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:
- demographic assumptions (1) (3) - - (1) (3)
- financial assumptions (35) 21 - - (35) 21
- experience adjustment 8 4 - - 8 4
- Return on plan assets excluding 
interest income - - 9 (19) 9 (19)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 1 3 (1) (3) - -
Effect of asset ceiling - - - - 24 3

(27) 25 8 (22) 5 6

Other
Contributions paid by the employer - - (23) (21) (23) (21)
Participation contribution 10 9 (10) (9) - -
Other (7) (5) 7 5 - -

3 4 (26) (25) (23) (21)

Balance at 31 August 307 306 (357) (329) 4 5
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Plan assets

The major categories of plan assets of the fair value of the total plan assets are, as follows:

FY25 FY24

Cash and cash 
equivalents 6 3
Equity instruments 139 119
Debt instruments 143 148
Real estate 58 51
Other 11 8
Total 357 329

The plan assets do not include investments in shares, issued debt or property owned by the 
Company. Total plan assets with a quoted market prices amounts to EUR 351 million (FY24: 
EUR 325 million).

Defined benefit obligation

Actuarial assumptions
The principal weighted-average assumptions used in determining the defined benefit 
obligations are shown below:

FY25 FY24

Discount rate 3.0% 2.7%
Future salary increase rate 2.2% 2.3%

The pre-retirement mortality assumption has been calculated per country, based on generally 
accepted mortality tables, such as BVG2020 Generational for Switzerland.

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at 31 August 2025 is 20 years (FY24: 
21 years).

The Company expects to contribute EUR 23 million to its defined benefit pension plans in FY26.

Sensitivity analysis
Sensitivity analyses (in- and decrease by 0.5%) have been performed on both the discount rate 
and the salary increase rate, calculating the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at 
31 August 2025.

Discount rate Salary increases
+50 bp -50 bp +50 bp -50 bp

Present value defined benefit obligation 285 335 310 306
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13.  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities include an amount of EUR 72 million (FY24: EUR 84 million) relating to 
other debts.

The movement in non-current liabilities can be specified as follows:

FY25 FY24

Principal amount 105 105
Repaid until 31 August (14) -
Outstanding principal amount as per 1 September 91 105
Repayments (7) (18)
Difference in foreign currency translation (3) 4
Outstanding principal amount as at 31 August 81 91
Current as at 31 August (9) (7)
Non-current as at 31 August 72 84

14.  CURRENT LIABILITIES

FY25 FY24

Current portion of long term debt 9 7
Short-term borrowings 134 127
Payable related parties 8 -
Accounts payable trade 1,860 1,939
Income taxes payable 144 185
Indirect tax payable 155 180
Payable staff 191 155
Derivatives liabilities 19 14
Accrued liabilities and deferred income 485 196
Other liabilities 83 279
Total 3,088 3,082

Short-term borrowings at different finance institutions bear market interest rates according to 
local conditions for currencies involved.

All current liabilities have an estimated maturity shorter than one year.

15.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

General
During the normal course of business, the Company uses various financial instruments that 
expose it to currency, interest, cash flow, fair value, market, credit and liquidity risks. To control 
these risks, the Company has instituted a policy including a code of conduct and procedures that 
are intended to limit the risks of unpredictable adverse developments in the financial markets 
and thus for the financial performance of the Company.
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Credit risk
Credit risk arises principally from the Company’s loans and receivables presented under 
financial fixed assets, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The 
maximum amount of credit risk that the Company incurs is EUR 6,434 million (FY24: 
EUR 7,749 million), consisting of EUR 285 million (FY24: EUR 303 million) financial fixed assets, 
EUR 3,212 million (FY24: EUR 3,282 million) trade and other receivables and EUR 2,937 million 
(FY24: EUR 4,164 million) cash and cash equivalents. The credit risk is concentrated to trade 
receivables for EUR 2,749 million (FY24: EUR 2,828 million) which mainly consists of 13 groups 
of franchisees, with the exception of IKEA Baltics that are a part of the Group. Long standing 
relationships exist with these counterparties. Furthermore, the Company has investments in 
Money Market Funds of EUR 2,620 million (FY24: EUR 3,893 million) spread across 8 AAA credit 
rated investment funds.

Credit risk mitigating aspects
For derivatives traded with banking partners, there is a collateral management process where 
the net asset or liability value is exchanged in the form of cash collateral with each counterparty. 
At year-end 2025, EUR 47 million was received as collateral against the positive value of 
derivative contracts, EUR 113 million was delivered as collateral against the negative value of 
derivative contracts.

Interest rate risk and cash-flow risk
The Company runs an interest rate risk on interest bearing assets and liabilities. For assets and 
liabilities with variable interest rate agreements, the Company runs a risk of future cash flows 
relating to the interest element. For fixed interest rate loans the Company runs a fair value risk.

Returns on investments in Money Market Funds is subject to interest rate risk since most funds 
invest in highly liquid short dated instruments.

Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk on:

• Franchise fees: the franchise fees are partly earned outside of the Euro zone, where 
the euro is the Company’s reporting currency. From a reporting perspective, the 
Company is therefore exposed to the volatility of foreign exchange market. The 
currency risk run on the positions is limited, considering the amounts involved and 
regular settlements combined.

• Goods flows: the Company is exposed to foreign exchange rate risks arising from 
purchase and sales of goods, freight and indirect materials and services transactions. 
The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are CNY, PLN, 
GBP and USD. The Company’s exchange rate risk is actively managed by using 
derivatives contracts.

At year-end 2025, the total net fair value of the derivatives used to manage exchange risk is 
EUR 66 million negative (FY24: EUR 25 million positive).

Hedge accounting is applied with the impact of effective hedging taken to other comprehensive 
income of EUR 47 million loss (FY24: EUR 31 million gain). The results of derivatives which did not 
meet the hedging criteria are directly reported under result from hedges in the profit and loss 
account and amount to EUR 31 million loss (FY24: EUR 20 million loss).
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The strategy to mitigate the currency risk is centralised and managed by the separate Treasury 
function within the Group, which is responsible for mitigating the Group’s financial risks. Based 
on the forecasted business plan, the Treasury function determines and is responsible for the 
risk management strategy. As a consequence, the Company has opted to recognise the realised 
hedge results (gains and losses) in financial income and expenses.

The Company applies derivatives, including currency options and forward exchange contracts 
to control its risks. A minimum of 95% of the forecasted foreign exchange exposure should be 
hedged within 2 months of setting fixed rates.

In FY25, the result from hedging recognised in the profit and loss account amounted to a gain of 
EUR 163 million (FY24: gain of EUR 221 million).

Liquidity Risk
The Company monitors its cash position by using liquidity planning. Management ensures 
that the cash position and facilities are sufficient to meet the company’s financial obligations 
towards creditors.

Fair value
The fair value of most of the financial instruments stated on the balance sheet, including 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and current liabilities, is approximately equal to their 
carrying amount.

16.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The commitments can be detailed as follows:

Purchase commitments
The Group has entered into purchase agreements with external suppliers for a total value of 
EUR 3,222 million at 31 August 2025 (FY24: EUR 3,120 million). These agreements have different 
remaining periods, ranging up to 9 years.

IT Services commitments
The Group has entered into IT services agreements. This agreement includes both ‘Agreed 
Services’, such as maintenance, operations and infrastructure and ‘Consultancy Services”. 
The commitment for the coming year for these agreements amounts to approximately 
EUR 60 million (FY24: EUR 65 million).

Distribution Services Commitments
The Group has entered into agreements covering the services for distribution. These 
agreements have different remaining periods, ranging from 1 to 10 years. The commitment for 
the coming years for the distribution services amounts to approximately EUR 2,130 million (FY24: 
EUR 2,108 million).

Operating leases – Group as lessee
The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into several other lease and rental agreements 
for various periods. Future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases as 
at 31 August 2025 is as follows:
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FY25 FY24

< 1 year 10 11
1-5 years 18 12
> 5 years - 1
Total 28 24

Lease payments recognised as expenses in FY25 amount to EUR 29 million (FY24: 
EUR 26 million).

The contingent liabilities can be detailed as follows:

Guarantees
Issued guarantees towards external parties amounted to EUR 398 million at 31 August 2025 
(FY24: EUR 410 million), mainly relating to VAT receivable positions with the Italian tax authority.

Litigation
The Company is or may become involved in legal proceedings, as well as in investigations 
(see also note 11) and disputes with respect to (f.e.) tax, product liability and safety incidents. 
When no estimate can be made of the financial consequences, if any, or if the risk of a 
future cash outflow is less than probable, no provisions have been recognised in the balance 
sheet. Management believes, based on legal advice, that no pending litigation to which the 
Company is a party will have a material adverse effect on the financial position or the results 
from operations.

Uncertain tax positions
We refer to note 20 of the financial statements.

17.  OPERATING INCOME

The breakdown of operating income by revenue categories is as follows:

FY25 FY24

Sales of goods 24,860 25,061
Franchise fees 1,320 1,348
Other revenue 126 129
Total 26,306 26,538

The geographical distribution of operating income is as follows:

FY25 FY24

The Netherlands 1,177 1,211
European Union 14,452 13,312
Rest of the world 10,677 12,015

26,306 26,538
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18.  OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and wages
During FY25, the average number of staff employed with the Group, converted into full-time 
equivalents, amounted to 25,971 (FY24: 23,892) of which 24,809 (FY24: 22,821) were employed 
outside the Netherlands.

The staffing level can be divided into the following staff categories:

FY25 FY24

Retail Concept * 3,185 2,110
Range 2,404 2,272
Supply 20,175 19,337
Other functions 207 173

25,971 23,892

* also includes strategic franchisor functions

Other operating expenses
The main categories within the other operating expenses are IT (EUR 566 million), rent, 
maintenance and utilities (EUR 159 million), other staff expenses (EUR 112 million) and general 
administrative expenses (EUR 92 million).

19.  FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE

The financial income and expense can be specified as follows:

FY25 FY24

Interest income 110 179
Result from hedges 163 221
Total 273 400

Interest expense 9 50
Other financial expense 37 24
Total 46 74

20.  INCOME TAXES

The applicable weighted average tax rate is 21.3% (FY24: 17.5%), following the nominal tax rates 
in the Netherlands, Sweden and Switzerland where the majority of the Group’s businesses are 
located. The effective tax rate increased by 3.8% compared to the previous year. This is mainly 
due to decreased profitability in Switzerland (which has a lower nominal tax rate) compared to 
previous year resulting from high costs in the supply chain connected to US tariffs.
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The tax expense recognised in the profit and loss account for FY25 amounts to EUR 415 million 
(FY24: EUR 466 million).

The reconciliation between the applicable and the effective tax rate is as follows:

FY25 FY24

Result before tax 1,952 2,665

Income tax using the applicable tax rate in the Netherlands 504 688
Tax effect of:
- Other applicable tax rates abroad (116) (246)
- Exempt income (2) (2)
- Non-deductible expenses 4 7
(De)recognition of tax losses (1) 2
Adjustment for prior periods - 16
Changes in tax rates (1) 1
Non-reclaimable withholding tax 10 14
Pillar 2 11 -
Other 6 (14)
Tax expenses 415 466

The Group has unrecognised tax loss carry forwards available related to losses incurred in 
several countries for approximately EUR 15 million (FY24: EUR 39 million). No deferred tax 
asset has been recognised for these tax loss carry forwards due to uncertainty with respect 
to availability of taxable profits in the future within the limitations imposed in enacted 
tax legislation.

OECD Pillar Two model rules
The OECD Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantially enacted in several countries 
where the Group operates. The legislation is effective for the Group starting as from 
1 September 2024. The Group is in scope of the legislation and concluded that Inter IKEA 
Foundation (i.e., the Group’s 100% shareholder and ultimate owner) is the Ultimate Parent Entity 
for Pillar Two purposes. Inter IKEA Foundation and Inter IKEA Holding B.V. have concluded an 
agreement under which any Pillar Two taxes that are due by Inter IKEA Foundation in relation to 
Inter IKEA Group companies can be recharged to Inter IKEA Holding B.V.

For FY25 the Group can apply the transitional safe harbour measures of Pillar Two in most 
countries (e.g., because the Group is already subject to tax at an effective rate above 15% in 
many countries). Accordingly, no Pillar Two income taxes are expected for these countries in 
FY25. For the few remaining countries that are not eligible for transitional safe harbour relief, 
the Pillar Two top-up taxes for FY25 amount to EUR 11 million.

Uncertain tax positions
Corporate income tax is actively addressed by international institutions and local governments 
and the taxation of large multinational companies receives continued media attention. The 
Company is also subject to tax audits in various geographies, and is working pro-actively with 
local tax authorities.
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In December 2017, the European Commission opened a formal investigation, with their Opening 
Decision published on 6 April 2018 which was complemented by their Decision published on 
10 July 2020, to examine whether decisions by the tax authorities in The Netherlands with regard 
to the corporate income tax paid by one of our subsidiaries, Inter IKEA Systems B.V., comply 
with European Union rules on state aid. The Company co-operates and responds to questions 
which the European Commission has in relation to this investigation. At this moment, although 
management considers the risk of a cash out flow unlikely, it is not possible to assess a financial 
impact, if any, of the outcome of this EC investigation. The aforementioned outcome is not 
expected to have a material adverse impact on the financial position of The Company.

The Company is actively monitoring and addressing these developments and believes that its 
corporate income tax position is appropriately reflected in the financial statements.

21.  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Related party transactions not on an arm's length basis have not occurred.

Shareholder
Transactions between the Company and its shareholder(s) during the year have all occurred at 
arm’s length.

Group companies
Since the company exercises influence on the business and financial policy, all companies 
belonging to the Group are treated as related parties.

The remuneration of the managing directors and supervisory directors is included in note 7 of 
the Company financial statements.

22.  AUDITOR’S FEES

The following fees were charged by KPMG Accountants N.V. to the company, its subsidiaries 
and other consolidated companies, as referred to in Section 2:382a(1) and (2) of the Netherlands 
Civil Code.
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KPMG Other
Accountants KPMG Total

EUR x 1,000 N.V. Network KPMG
2025 2025 2025

Audit of financial statements 2,107 2,213 4,320
Other audit engagements 763 - 763
Tax-related advisory 54 229 283
Other non-audit services 294 220 514

3,218 2,662 5,880

KPMG Other
Accountants KPMG Total

N.V. Network KPMG
2024 2024 2024

Audit of financial statements 1,926 2,185 4,111
Other audit engagements 227 9 236
Tax-related advisory - 624 624
Other non-audit services 129 11 140

2,282 2,829 5,111

The fees mentioned in the table for the audit of the FY25 financial statements relate to the total 
fees for the audit of the FY25 financial statements, irrespective of whether the activities have 
been performed during FY25.

23.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No material subsequent events have occurred.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 AUGUST 2025

(before profit appropriation, in millions of EUR)

Note FY25 FY24

Fixed assets
Financial fixed assets 3 17,286 18,136
Total fixed assets 17,286 18,136

Current assets
Receivables 4 1,605 1,083
Total current assets 1,605 1,083

TOTAL ASSETS 18,891 19,219

Shareholders' equity
Additional paid in capital 15,865 15,865
Other legal reserves 68 57
Other reserves 1,386 1,091
Result for the year 1,496 2,199
Total shareholders' equity 5 18,815 19,212

Current liabilities 76 7

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 18,891 19,219
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COMPANY PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FY25

(in millions of EUR)

FY25 FY24

Share in net result from part. interests 1,478 2,071
Other results, net of income taxes 18 128
Net result 1,496 2,199
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  GENERAL

The separate financial statements are part of the FY25 statutory financial statements of the 
Company. The financial information of the Company is included in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

If no further explanation is provided of items in the separate balance sheet and the separate 
profit and loss account, please refer to the notes to the consolidated balance sheet and profit 
and loss account.

2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities and the determination of the result are 
the same as those applied to the consolidated financial statements, with the exception of the 
following principles:

Participating interests in group companies
Participating interests where significant influence can be exercised over the business and 
financial policy, are valued according to the equity method on the basis of net asset value. If 
measurement at net asset value is not possible because the information required for this cannot 
be obtained, the participating interest is measured according to the visible equity.

The net asset value is calculated on the basis of the Company’s accounting policies. If the 
Company transfers an asset or a liability to a participating interest that is measured according 
to the equity method, the gain or loss resulting from this transfer is recognised to the extent of 
the relative interests of third parties in the participating interest (proportionate determination of 
result). Any loss that results from the transfer of current assets or an impairment of fixed assets 
is fully recognised. Results on transactions involving transfer of assets and liabilities between 
the Company and its participating interests and mutually between participating interests are 
eliminated to the extent that these cannot be regarded as having been realised.

Participating interests with a negative net asset value are valued at nil. This measurement 
also covers any long-term receivables on the participating interests that are, in substance, 
an extension of the net investment. In particular, this relates to loans for which settlement 
is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. A share in the profits of the 
participating interest in subsequent years will only be recognised if and to the extent that the 
cumulative unrecognised share of loss has been absorbed. If the company fully or partially 
guarantees the debts of the relevant participating interest, or if has the constructive obligation 
to enable the participating interest to pay its debts (for its share therein), then a provision is 
recognised accordingly to the amount of the estimated payments by the Company on behalf of 
the participating interest.
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Shareholders’ equity
As per year end, the financial instruments that have the legal form of equity, are presented 
in the equity of the separate financial statements. Refer to the accounting policies of the 
consolidated financial statements for accounting policies applied.

Share of result of participating interests
The share in the result of participating interests concerns the Company’s share in the results of 
the participating interests.

If the Company transfers an asset or a liability to a participating interest that is measured 
according to the equity method, the gain or loss resulting from this transfer is recognised to 
the extent of the relative interests of third parties in the participating interest (proportionate 
determination of result). Any loss that results from the transfer of current assets or an 
impairment of fixed assets is fully recognised. Results on transactions involving transfer of 
assets and liabilities between the Company and its participating interests and mutually between 
participating interests are eliminated to the extent that these cannot be regarded as having 
been realised.

The results of participating interests acquired or sold during the financial year are stated in the 
consolidated result from the date of acquisition or until the date of sale respectively.

Corporate income tax
The Company is the head of the fiscal unity. The Company recognises the portion of corporate 
income tax that it would owe as an independent tax payer, taking into account the allocation of 
the advantages of the fiscal unity. Settlement within the fiscal unity between the Company and 
its subsidiaries takes place through current account positions.

3.  FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

The movement in financial fixed assets is as follows:

Investm.
In part.

Interests

Balance as at 31 August 2024: 18,136
Investments 36
Share in result of participating interests 1,478
Dividends received (2,243)
Exchange rate differences (22)
Remeasurement IAS19 (5)
Change in unrealised result derivatives (68)
Other (26)
Balance as at 31 August 2025: 17,286

In accordance with article 403, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the Company has guaranteed the 
liabilities of Inter IKEA Systems B.V., Inter IKEA Assets B.V., Inter IKEA Developments Holding B.V., 
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Inter IKEA Development B.V., Inter IKEA Treasury B.V., IKEA Social Entrepreneurship B.V. and Inter 
IKEA Retail Holding B.V. Company financial statements of these subsidiaries are therefore not 
filed at the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce.

For an overview of capital interests, reference is made to the listing of subsidiaries that has been 
filed by the Company at the Chamber of Commerce.

4.  RECEIVABLES

FY25 FY24

Income tax receivable - 5
Receivable on participating interests 170 86
Intercompany receivable 1,392 976
Other receivables 43 16
Total 1,605 1,083

The receivables all have an estimated maturity shorter than one year.
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5.  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share Legal Transl. Other Unappr.
premium reserve reserve reserve profit Total

Balance as at 31 August 2023 15,865 52 (67) 269 1,639 17,758

Changes in financial year 2024:
Appropriation of result - - - 1,639 (1,639) -
Net result - - - - 2,199 2,199
Dividend paid - - - (1,000) - (1,000)
Transfer to / from legal reserve - 5 - (5) - -
Change in unrealised 
result derivatives - - - 187 - 187
Remeasurements of defined benefit 
pensions plans - - - (6) - (6)
Exchange rate differences - - 49 7 - 56
Other - - - 18 - 18
Balance as at 31 August 2024 15,865 57 (18) 1,109 2,199 19,212

Changes in financial year 2025:
Appropriation of result - - - 2,199 (2,199) -
Net result - - - - 1,496 1,496
Dividend paid - - - (1,800) - (1,800)
Transfer to / from legal reserve - 11 - (11) - -
Change in unrealised 
result derivatives - - - (68) - (68)
Remeasurements of defined benefit 
pensions plans - - - (5) - (5)
Exchange rate differences - - (22) - - (22)
Other - - - 2 - 2
Balance as at 31 August 2025 15,865 68 (40) 1,426 1,496 18,815

Issued capital
The Company’s issued and outstanding share capital is comprised of 126 shares, each with a par 
value of EUR 1,000. The issued and paid-up share capital consists of 1 share class “A” and 125 
shares class “B”.

Share premium
The share premium concerns the income from the issuing of shares in so far as this exceeds 
the nominal value of the shares (above par income). This also includes additional capital 
contributions by existing shareholders without the issue of shares or issue of rights to acquire 
shares of the Company.

Legal reserve
Other legal reserves mainly consist of a legal reserve for non-distributable profits in accordance 
with local legislation.
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Translation reserve
Exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of the functional currency of foreign 
operations to the reporting currency of the parent are accounted for in this legal reserve. In the 
case of the sale of a participating interest, the associated accumulated exchange differences are 
transferred to the profit and loss account. The translation legal reserve of EUR -40 million (FY24: 
EUR -18 million) relates to investments in participating interests in various countries.

Other reserves
The General Meeting will be asked to adopt the financial statements for reporting year 2025 on 
6 November 2025, and the General Meeting will be asked to adopt the appropriation of profit 
after tax as proposed by the Board of Management.

A final dividend for FY24 (EUR 1,000 million) and an interim dividend for FY25 (EUR 800 million) 
were paid to Inter IKEA Foundation during the year. These amounts have been deducted from 
the other reserves in shareholders’ equity.

Unappropriated profit
The General Meeting of Shareholders will be asked to approve the following appropriation of the 
FY25 net result: to pay out an amount of EUR 600 million as dividend and to add the remaining 
amount of EUR 896 million result to the other reserves.

The Company can only make payments to the shareholders and other parties entitled to the 
distributable profit in so far as (1) the Company can continue to pay its outstanding debts after 
the distribution (the so-called distribution test), and (2) the shareholders’ equity exceeds the 
legal reserves and statutory reserves under the articles of association to be maintained (the so-
called balance sheet test). If not, the Company’s management shall not approve the distribution.

6.  OFF BALANCE SHEET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Fiscal Unity
The Company forms a fiscal unity for corporate income tax purposes together with Inter 
IKEA Systems B.V., Inter IKEA Assets B.V., Inter IKEA Developments Holding B.V., Inter IKEA 
Development B.V., Inter IKEA Treasury B.V., IKEA Social Entrepreneurship B.V. and Inter IKEA 
Retail Holding B.V.

Guarantees
Reference is made to Note 3 of the financial fixed assets with respect to guarantees provided to 
various subsidiaries according to article 403, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

7.  OTHER DISCLOSURES

Employees
During the 2025 financial year, the average number of staff employed by the Company, 
converted into full-time equivalents, amounted to 2 (FY24: 3), of which 0 (FY24: 0) were employed 
outside the Netherlands.
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Remuneration management and supervisory board
The emoluments, including pension costs as referred to in Section 2:383(1) of the Netherlands 
Civil Code, charged in the financial year to the company, its subsidiaries and consolidated 
other companies amounted to EUR 3.6 million (FY24: EUR 4.3 million) for management board 
members, and EUR 0.6 million (FY24: EUR 0.5 million) for supervisory board members.

8.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No material subsequent events have occurred.
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Jon Abrahamsson Ring (Chairman)

Henrik Elm

 

 

Delft, 6 November 2025
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Mathias Kamprad

Véronique Laury

Torbjörn Lööf

John Olie

Aline Santos
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OTHER INFORMATION

Articles of association relating to the allocation of the result

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company keeps a Dividend Reserve A and a 
Dividend Reserve B. Holders of class A are entitled to Dividend Reserve A and holders of class B 
are entitled to Dividend Reserve B. In accordance with Article 4.1.2 of the Articles of Association, 
5% of the total aggregate par value of the class A shares is added to the Dividend Reserves A 
and the remainder is added to dividend reserve B.
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Independent auditor's report

To: the General Meeting and the Supervisory Board of Inter IKEA Holding B.V.

Report on the audit of the accompanying financial statements

Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements for the year ended as at 31 August 2025 of Inter IKEA 
Holding B.V. (hereafter also referred to as ‘the Company’), based in Delft.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Inter IKEA Holding B.V. as at 31 August 2025 and of its result for the year ended on 
31 August 2025 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The financial statements comprise:
1. the consolidated and company balance sheet as at 31 August 2025;
2. the consolidated and company profit and loss account for the year ended 

on 31 August 2025;
3. the consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended on 31 August 2025;
4. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 

on 31 August 2025; and
5. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements' section of our report.

We are independent of Inter IKEA Holding B.V. in accordance with the ‘Wet toezicht 
accountantsorganisaties’ (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the 'Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten' (ViO, Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant 
independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the 
'Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants' (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We designed our audit procedures in the context of our audit of the financial statements 
as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon. The information in respect of fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations and going concern was addressed in this context, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these matters. We believe the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information in support of our opinion

Audit response to the risk of fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations
In the paragraph ‘Risk management’ of the Report from the Management Board, the 
Management Board describes its procedures in respect of the risk of fraud and non-compliance 
with laws and regulations.
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As part of our audit, we have gained insights into the Company and its business environment 
and the Company’s risk management in relation to fraud and non-compliance. Our procedures 
included, among other things, assessing the Company’s code of conduct, whistleblowing 
procedures, compliance documents and its procedures to investigate indications of possible 
fraud and non-compliance.

Furthermore, we performed relevant inquiries with the Management Board, Audit Committee 
and other relevant functions, such as Internal Audit, Legal Counsel and Risk and Compliance and 
included correspondence with relevant supervisory authorities and regulators in our evaluation. 
We have also incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit, such as performing detailed 
analysis on the purchase and procurement process, including reconciliation of supporting 
evidence and an AI Transaction Scoring analysis on expenses.

As a result from our risk assessment, we identified the following laws and regulations as those 
most likely to have a material effect on the financial statements in case of non-compliance: 
anti-bribery and corruption, trade sanctions and export controls and product risk and safety 
compliance. Our procedures did not result in the identification of a reportable risk of material 
misstatement in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations.

Based on the above and on the auditing standards, the following presumed fraud risks are 
relevant to our audit, and responded as follows:

Management override of controls (a presumed risk)

Risk:
We addressed the inherent risk of management override of controls. This risk relates to 
presumed bias by management in making significant estimates and judgements as well as 
recording high risk (manual) journal entries that may represent a risk of material misstatement 
of the financial statements due to fraud.

Responses:
We have performed, amongst others, the following procedures:

• evaluated the design and the implementation of internal controls that mitigate fraud 
risks, such as internal control measures related to non-routine journal entries and 
significant accounting estimates;

• performed data analytics of high risk journal entries. If instances of unexpected 
journal entries or other risks through our data analytics were identified, we performed 
additional audit procedures to address each identified risk, including testing of 
transactions back to source information; and

• evaluated key estimates and judgements for bias by management, including 
retrospective review of prior year’s estimates, for example valuation of inventories and 
impairment tests.
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Revenue recognition (a presumed risk) 

Risk:
We addressed the inherent risk of fraud in revenue recognition. This risk inherently includes 
the fraud risk that management deliberately overstates or understates revenue, in the cut-off 
period, as management may feel pressure to achieve planned results.

Responses:
We have performed, amongst others, the following procedures:

• determined and evaluated the design and implementation of the process levels 
controls (including anti-fraud controls) as implemented by management with respect 
to revenue recognition;

• performed test of details over non-routine revenue transactions by determining the 
fulfilment of performance obligations based on agreements and underlying supporting 
documentation; and

• performed journal entry testing, specifically taking into account high risk criteria in 
relation to revenue and top side journal entries posted to revenue.

We communicated our risk assessment, audit response and results to the Management Board 
and Audit Committee.

Our audit procedures did not reveal indications of fraud and/or reasonable suspicion of fraud 
and non-compliance that are considered material for our audit.

Audit response to going concern
The Management Board has performed its going concern assessment and has not identified 
any going concern risks. To evaluate the Management Board’s assessment, we have performed, 
amongst others, the following procedures:

• we considered whether the Management Board’s assessment of the going concern risks 
includes all relevant information of which we are aware as a result of our audit and we 
inquired the Management Board on the key assumptions and principles underlying the 
Management Board’s assessment of going concern risks;

• we evaluated the key assumptions and the sensitivity analyses used by the 
Management Board for the cash-flow forecasts and liquidity management; and

• we evaluated the Company’s financial position as at year-end and compared it to 
previous years, developments in the business and any information of which we 
are aware as a result of our audit in terms of indicators that could identify going 
concern risks.

The outcome of our risk assessment procedures did not give reason to perform additional audit 
procedures on management’s going concern assessment.

Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report 
contains other information.
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Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

• is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material 
misstatements;

• contains all the information regarding the management report and the other 
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained 
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the 
other information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is less 
than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

The Management Board is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including 
the Report from the Management Board, in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code, and other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Description of the responsibilities for the financial statements

Responsibilities of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board for the 
financial statements
The Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, 
the Management Board is responsible for such internal control as the Management Board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Management Board is responsible for 
assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting 
framework mentioned, the Management Board should prepare the financial statements using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Management Board either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The 
Management Board should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt 
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we 
may not have detected all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or errors and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
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taken on the basis of the financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on 
our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements 
and independence requirements. Our audit included among others:

• identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to errors or fraud, designing and performing audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from errors, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

• obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control;

• evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management Board;

• concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company ceasing 
to continue as a going concern;

• evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures; and

• evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We are responsible for planning and performing the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the 
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements. We are also responsible 
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group 
audit. We bear the full responsibility for the auditor’s report.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Amstelveen, 6 November 2025

KPMG Accountants N.V.

J.G. Kamphuis RA
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